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Chapter 1: Early Career

01:46:36:18 – 01:46:55:21
Lisa: Thanks. Um, and we are here today at Temple University interviewing Ilene Shane on December 9, 2011 also present in the room is our videographer, Lindsey Martin and Ilene, do we have your permission to begin the interview?

Ilene: Yes

Lisa: Thank you very much. Welcome

Ilene: Thank you

01:46:56:14 – 01:47:42:01
Lisa: Ilene, one of the first questions I want to ask you, is why it is that you decided to go to law school and what kind of career you envisioned for yourself?

Ilene: Uh, actually before I went to law school, I was in graduate school in, uh, microbiology and then developmental biology and I was actually working on my PHD and I found two things which is why I didn’t do well in a lab. It requires a lot of very technical hands on work and I’m not very coordinated and second of all, I became much more involved in social issues during that time and, uh, decided that I wanted to do something that would allow me to do something for people who were disadvantaged. More social issues and so I actually quit graduate school and went to law school. 

01:47:42:04 – 01:47:58:26 
Lisa: When you say you became involved in social issues, were there any issues in particular that you were drawn to?

Ilene: Um, it, they were not disability issues specifically, it was more issues of poverty, uh, back then, Varieties of issues but disability in particular was not something I was, uh, focused on.

01:47:59:20 – 01:48:23:09 
Lisa: Um, I believe when you were in law school, you took a research job at The Western Center. 
Ilene: Well at my first, my first experience with anything involving people with disabilities other than my personal experience, uh, was I went to work at The Western Psychiatric Institute and Clinic at WPIC and there began to first learn about mental health law which is really where I started.

01:48:24:04 – 01:49:02:26
Lisa: And so was that your involvement with people who had mental health issues. Was that what kind of pointed you on your…
Ilene: That, the field was interesting to me and I learned a lot but that still didn’t get me to where I was working with people or issues, the kind of issues I wanted to work with. What happened was, I graduated law school and at that time, legal services decided they wanted to start a mental health clinic or mental health legal clinic and that was in the actual fit so I went and began working for legal services which was what I wanted to do to begin with and then I brought to legal services this special expertise and for the next, about two years I worked for legal, at legal services doing mental health law.

01:49:03:05 – 01:50:25:18 
Lisa: You’d said that when you had left law school you had joined a firm but you were only there for two weeks. Can you tell us that story?
Ilene: I, I wanted to work to, I went to law school to work for legal services. I wanted to do poverty law. I wanted to work with people who were disadvantaged. Uh, unfortunately I was also at that time fairly poor and so I needed to work and legal services didn’t pay very much so I got other jobs that paid a lot more. Um, I did very well in law school so I thought its ok, I’ll work my way through law school. I’ll make the money I need to make to live and I’ll do well in law school and then when I finish, I’ll go work. I’ll go apply for legal service. I couldn’t get an interview because their, their, their thinking was if you weren’t serious enough to work for legal services before you graduated law school, they didn’t want to consider you so, um, there I was graduating law school and didn’t, as I said didn’t get an interview at legal services so I took a job with a firm and I absolutely hated it and about two weeks into the fall when I passed the Bar and I started working there, I ran into Tony Wettick on the street. Now Judge Wettick and he was at that time the executive director of legal services and he said to me. I’m really interested in starting a clinic in mental health law and I understand this is something you know something about. Would you be interested in coming to work for us and I said, absolutely so I quit my job and went to legal services that day or maybe within a week.
01:50:26:26 – 01:51:41:04
Lisa: What were some of the early cases you were involved in, the types of work you were doing at legal services?

Ilene: Well, things were very exciting back then because, uh, at least in the mental health area. This notion that people with mental illness had rights was just beginning. Uh, the notion that you didn’t just hospitalize people on the consent of a psychiatrist was only, uh, sort of determined right around then. Um, David Ferleger did a lot of incredibly, uh, progressive work at that time and he was someone I had the fortune, good fortune to work with and to learn from. Um, and so, uh, there were a variety of challenges. If you take sort of The Mental Health Act, the 1966 MHMR Act and you go section by section. Almost every section was declared unconstitutional. Back in those days, you could commit someone to a mental hospital, really forever based on the opinion of two psychiatrists and until those two psychiatrists felt you were ready to leave. You didn’t or a psychiatrist, you didn’t leave. There was no hearing, there was no process, there were no lawyers and, uh, that was. All of those concepts began to be challenged right around the time that I began to, uh, to work in that area so it was a very exciting time.
01:51:42:12 – 01:53:07:22 
Lisa: When you left legal services to go to Pitt, The University of Pittsburgh. Can you tell us a little bit of what took you there?

Ilene: What happened was Pitt, The University of Pittsburgh, uh, Law School got a grant, uh, which was one of five grants from the developmental disabilities administration. The idea was to seed law schools to develop lawyers who were interested in disability law or had a background in disability law and this happened at the same time that the DD Act was passed and the protection advocacy systems were just being set up, so..
Lisa: Can you tell me what year that was?
Ilene: ’77, well the act passed, I believe in ’75. This was ’77. Um, I think it was ’75. I’m not positive. Anyway, so I went to Pitt, um, and set up this developmental disabilities legal clinic and at the same time I became much more interested in disability law and it wasn’t then just mental health law. It became, I began to learn about developmental disabilities, uh, I met a lot with people from The Arc in Pittsburgh, uh, then called The Association for Retarded Citizens, long, long ways back. Learned a lot from them, learned a lot from  people at UCP, United Cerebral Palsy and became more and more interested, um, in the variety of issues that affected people with disabilities and, uh, that sort of really what, when I began working in disability law.
Chapter Two: Pennsylvania Protection and Advocacy

01:53:08:11 – 01:53:40:10
Lisa: And, uh, The Developmental Disabilities Act also funded protection advocacy systems.

Ilene: Correct, so their first. They started out as a DD program, um, when they first started, the protection advocacy systems. There’s always been this somewhat of a mistrust by the other disability groups as to whether they’re really equal partners because over time, the protection advocacy system was expanded to include mental health, to include other disabilities and now basically includes all disabilities but it really started out as a DD program.
01:53:41:03 – 01:55:06:24 
Lisa: And, what were they really setup to do. What was their mission?

Ilene: That’s really evolved over time, Um, I would say they would now define their mission and I mean nationally as, uh, to protect and advocate for the legal rights of persons with disabilities but back then the idea of legal rights was really, not really where their focus was and the legal advocacy didn’t really come into play for some years after that. Pennsylvania was very early in doing a lot of legal work. We didn’t see that as much nationally as we did in Pennsylvania. In some places we did but when I used to go to the national, uh, meetings, we were sort of odd man out on a lot of these legal issues. When we won the, um, ADA case which established the integration mandate under The ADA, which was Helen L, I went down to present on it with Steve Gold, um, they really couldn’t understand what the significance of that case was. They were really not a legally focused organization back then. That really didn’t happen until afterwards.  Now they’re, now the pendulum has swung totally in the other direction. They’re a primarily legally focused  organization. Most of The P&A’s and what I’m saying is just generalizing. It’s certainly not true. There are exceptions to that and there are some P&A’s that have done exceptional legal work right from the beginning but, um, the pendulum has swung more in the direction of legal rights, um, in the last ten to fifteen years.
01:55:07:02 – 01:56:48:07
Lisa: We certainly should say Pennsylvania’s P&A was not set up initially to provide that kind of legal service but while at Pitt you formed the disability law project so maybe you could talk about the evolution of that.

Ilene:  Part of that mission was to become, uh, a backup center or assistance to the protection advocacy system so I, trying to be a good steward of the money given to me. Go to meet with the executive director of The P&A and, um, this is someone who only lasted about six months. He was fired fairly soon after I had this conversation with him, by no, but just by coincidence. Uh, and I go to meet him and I explain to him who I am and what our interest are and how I thought we, our interest were aligned and that we could work together and he said, I don’t really like lawyers. I’m not interested in anything to do with lawyers and he basically had, didn’t even want to talk to me so I left. He was fired and they hired a new executive director and that’s when our relationship really began with the protection advocacy system because they, they saw and because it says so right in the statute. A legal requirement that they provide legal services to people with disabilities and rather than do that directly, they started sub-contracting with us to do it and then ultimately with the education law centers as well, to do it. So over the next, I’d say from the late 70’s to, to, to about five years ago, all the legal work of the protection advocates system was sub-contracted to one of the two law centers.
01:56:53:10 – 01:58:02:29
Lisa: When you first started working in partnership with the protection and advocacy. What were the types of works you initially pursued with them?

Ilene: Um, well, we, we, we, we got off to a lot of wrong starts before I think we got off to the right starts. Their initial idea was that we hire private attorneys to do the work and so they set aside a pot of money that we were supposed to use to hire private attorneys to do disability work and it, it really was not a good model and after about a year we let go of that one and they began to fund us directly. In the beginning we did a lot of individual special education cases. Remember, I was just a baby attorney back then. I hadn’t had a lot of experience. Um, so we did a lot of individual cases, um, and, and there were really, it was me and one other attorney so, um, a friend, a friend of mine from PILCOP, Frank Laski used to always say, that the minimum number of attorneys you really need to do systemic litigation is three and I,  that may not be true but certainly was true for me. We really weren’t set up back then to do the kind of litigation we ulimately began doing in the 80’s.
01:58:03:20 – 01:58:40:01  
Lisa: You relocated to Philadelphia after years at Pitt, maybe four years at Pitt.

Ilene: Right, I was at Pitt for four years. I, the grant ended and I moved to Philadelphia for personal reasons. Um, at that time, uh, we then, I was then able to acquire additional funding from The P&A and I began what was then a freestanding, uh, disabilities. It was, first it was the, I think the developmental disabilities law project, I think and then we changed our name, I’m not sure I remember but, um, I established the free, as a free standing entity and we incorporated, I think in the early 80’s as a, as a public interest law firm.
01:58:40:18 – 01:59:15:16
Lisa: Did you find more support for the type of work you were interested in, in Philadelphia?

Ilene: Absolutely, there’s a couple things that’s unique, that are unique to Philadelphia. Philadelphia has more than a few dozen, more than two dozen public interest law firms so there’s an incredible, uh, support system for people who want to do public interest law. Second of all there were people like Tom Gilhool, Frank Laski, David Ferleger, Steve Gold from whom I could learn. And, so I went from being someone who really didn’t have any kind of role model on how to do this work to someone who had all the role models I needed and I learned a lot from them.
01:59:17:03 – 01:59:50:14
Lisa: Ilene, you initially opened offices, um, in or maybe moved in with The Education Law Center. Was that with a mind toward working with The Education Law Center?

Ilene: Yeah, I, I, it was an oversight not to mention of course, Janet Stotland and Len Reisner in that list but we, uh, moved in with them, uh, rented a space from them. Uh, The Pennhurst master rented a space from them so we were all there in together. The Pennhurst master, us and ELC all had this tiny set of offices at, uh, in The Lewis Tower building, in Philadelphia.
01:59:50:20 – 02:00:33:24 
Lisa: I bet you had great lunchtime conversations. So do you, you said that these relationships influenced the way you approached litigation. You were learning from all of these folks. Did they also, um, kind of influence the way you pursued advocacy?

Ilene: Well, I learned a lot about advocacy really before I left Pittsburgh. I learned that a lot from the existing groups. From the parents, from the other advocacy groups in, in, uh, Pittsburgh and I think I really formed my views about the rights of people with disabilities long before I moved to Philadelphia. What happened when I moved to Philadelphia, I learned as a lawyer how to carry out some of those advocacy initiatives.
Chapter Three: Work Involving State Centers
02:00:43:10 – 02:02:21:29
Lisa: Thank you. Ilene, in some of your early work you had worked around issues of mental health, um, but certainly, um, your work , um, around The Philadelphia State Hospital also known as Byberry kind of brought together both the developmental disabilities world and the mental health world to some extent. Um, I know that Byberry was closed or at least the state announced that it would close Byberry in 1987. The actual closure and the movement of residents from Byberry into the community was much longer and much more complicated. I wonder if you could tell us a little bit about that.
Ilene: I think when the governor announced the closure of Byberry, I think his intention was to close Byberry and merge, uh, it with another facility. I don’t think the idea of moving the residents or certainly all the residents of Byberry into the community was on their radar screen. Uh, what happened is, basically two things happened, um, Steve Gold and I filed a lawsuit, um, on behalf of the residents of Byberry, claiming that they had a right to live in the community. At the same time a coalition formed, I think it was called the Coalition for Responsible Closing of Byberry State Hospital which really had some terrific people, uh, who committed themselves to several years of work and did all the advocacy, the public relations, the political and media work around the closure so the lawsuit was just a small piece of that. You had this, this coalition which really did, uh, the core work around the closure.
02:02:22:10 – 02:04:14:03
Lisa: How important was the public relations and media work to this case?
Ilene: It was very important because, uh, there was some very, well, the, the heart of the worst part of it, is that early on, um, I think things went to quickly and were not done carefully enough and three people died very early on in the, uh, process of moving people to the community, um, obviously that was a public relations nightmare for the governor but also from an advocacy perspective. We were concerned that, that was going to result in everybody staying in institutions to protect them, their safety. So that was one piece but throughout the entire process, uh, media was, was a big part of the closure. People were concerned about what were going, was going to happen to people. Even today, people say to me, um, Philadelphia State Hospital or Byberry closed and all those people ended up in the street. None of those people ended up in the street. Every single one of those people had a plan of where they were going and if they ended up in the street and there were very, very, very few of them. It was because that’s where they chose to go and even then there was continued outreach to them on the street continually asking them to come live someplace else. So every single person was tracked. There was a program for every single person, um, while there was an increase in homelessness due to whole lots of reason including federal, decrease in federal funding for housing, um, it was not the closure of Byberry which caused people to be out on the streets.
Lisa: Um, please correct me if I am wrong but it seems like the reason people were tracked and receiving services is because of the advocacy that you brought because initially I think 90 people were moved from Byberry to the community and were kind of lost in the system.
Ilene: Correct and one of the things that we required as part of the lawsuit was that they’d be found and that in fact happened as part of the settlement.

02:04:16:11 – 02:04:59:23 
Lisa: Thank you. Um, why is it that, um, DLP and the P&A didn’t have a role in the closure of Pennhurst?

Ilene: We certainly weren’t doing this kind of work back then. Uh, my only work in Pennhurst was that I represented some individual clients who had some issue, interestingly in front of the Pennhurst master with whom I shared office space but, um, we never discussed those cases, of course.

02:05:01:00 – 02:06:34:06
Lisa: Well, though you, the Pennhurst predated your work, um, you certainly did play a significant role in the closure of other institutions. I’m thinking, particularly of Western Center and Embreeville.
Ilene: Well, really there… I’ve never really sat down and made a list but there really have been quite a few, Embreeville, Western Center, Southhampton.  Uh, one of the biggest cases we did, did not result in a closure which was around Laurelton which is the Carolyn Clark case. Individual client but that has in turn resulted in a lot of, uh, people getting into the community.
Lisa: Ilene, just before I ask you about those cases and I do cause there very fascinating and complicated, I’m curious about your own experiences with institutions. If you had personally visited any of these centers and if so, what you remember, what your impressions were?
Ilene: Uh, I, the first, when I first started practicing back when I was with legal services, I used to spend probably two days a week just hanging out at the state institutions because that’s how I found clients. Here I worked for legal services and I was told your job is to represent people with mental illness. Well, how do you do that? So I used to just hang out in the canteen and meet people and spend a lot of time at the institutions. So, actually I did spend back in those days a lot more time, uh, I mean obviously I went out every time I had a client, I went out to interview them but I used to just sort of hang out there because that’s how I found out what it was like and what was going on. Um, after that, um, my occasions to visit institutions many times over the years was usually for a specific purpose, either a monitoring or to meet with somebody.
02:06:34:17 – 02:07:35:16
Lisa: And so, what were they like. What was going on?
Ilene: Um, I don’t think we saw, I saw, uh, the conditions ever as bad as they were at Pennhurst but we saw some very, very bad things. I mean, there was always the terrible smells, uh, a level, a volume of noise that was just intolerable. Like you just couldn’t think because it was always so noisy and it was always so hot. I would become tired as soon as I walked in the door. There was this, this sort of feeling of the heat, the noise, the smells and it just, you sort of, your system was just shut down and of course I witnessed some very negative things that just, is what you see when you, when you,  when you, uh, visit these places. Uh, and interestingly, it was almost like we weren’t there. I mean, when we first would get there, they would make a big fuss over the fact that we were there and then after an half hour an hour they’d forget that they were, we were there and life would just go on as it was and we would witness the kinds of things that you really just don’t want people to be subjected to. Um…

02:07:38:01 – 02:08:49:13
Lisa: Thank you. Um, The Embreeville Center, um, maybe to start with, had been under investigation by The Department of Justice since the late 60’s, no, sorry, late 80’s, ’86.
Ilene: Well, we really need to predate that a little with Western Center.The community was extremely, um, advocacy community, parents of consumers were very concerned about Western Center and what was going on there and there was a lot of talk about maybe we should bring a lawsuit around Western Center and then one day a boy was, a 14 year old boy was killed through prone restraint and it was like within 24 hours after talking about this for about a year, within 24 hours the community had decided that’s it. We want a lawsuit. 

Lisa: Exactly what you mean by prone restraint.
Ilene: They held him on the ground, um, and restrained him by sitting on him basically and stopped him from breathing and he died. Prone restraint is the most dangerous, uh, type of restraint because there is this huge risk of dying from suffocation. Uh, and it should be illegal everywhere.

02:08:49:15 – 02:10:04:28
Lisa: And was it a common practice at Western?

Ilene: I don’t know how common it was, uh, the other thing that happened at Western is that the department had sent someone in undercover and so we had volumes of documents of what was going on there. It was not a good place. So The Western Center litigation was, was completed and part of the settlement of Western Center was this notion that Embreeville would also close. Um, and I don’t remember if that was enforceable piece was it was definitely discussed with the department and the idea was that both centers would close and of course that didn’t happen and so when it didn’t happen, we then looked to Embreeville. Meanwhile The Justice Department had brought a conditions case at Embreeville and we intervened to say, no, we don’t want Embreeville fixed up. We want Embreeville closed and interestingly and this really is quite different than The Justice Department was back in those days. They came to agree with us. Now The Justice Department frequently goes in and talks about implementing, uh, The ADA and closing institutions. Back then, they only did conditions cases but in that case they were open to the idea that, uh, community alternatives was, where, was a legitimate remedy for an institution that had some very, very serious problems.
02:10:05:19 – 02:13:17:01
Lisa: Before we spoke, you said that those cases were sort of perfectly litigated and yet they didn’t result in a closure. Why, why not?

Ilene: I’m not sure I understand. They…

Lisa: Maybe I have that wrong.
Ilene: Ok. Well, neither case, uh, both cases were ultimately settled and if that’s what you’re asking me?

Lisa: Maybe, yes.

Ilene: Both cases were settled as was Pennhurst. 
Lisa: But, um, they both were settled, um, the, the Embreeville settlement in some ways was a very good, uh, settlement for how to close an institution. Um, each individual was planned for. A person had a plan developed for each individual. Each individual was, developed a program to meet his or her needs. Unlike Pennhurst where there were special protections set up for the individuals, the idea in Embreeville is that whoever left there would ultimately come part of the system as it existed but before the case would settle, would close, an expert would look at how they were doing so, uh, over the period of the implementation settlement the residents were given community options, uh, it was done in a really positive way. They, a lot of involvement with the individuals, their families, the family group in fact came to form and support the litigation. They were also party to and they supported, ultimately the closure, um, and, uh, developed in fact, a monitoring system which is still in a place today and then the ma, the master that we had all agreed on, or I don’t know if master is the right word. The monitor, I suppose is the right word, uh, would then go out and look at everybody or do a, uh, at least enough of a survey to get a sense of how people were doing and he found that things were not as they should be. And the two issues that keep, kept reoccurring and really still reoccur today is medical and psychiatric care. Noticed there was a whole lot of problems around those two areas. Um, in some ways, there the most measureable areas and so if you have problems there you’re going to be able to see them and so they had to then reform, uh, what they were doing around the class members to come at the clients with the report of the, uh, monitor and I believe that was the creation of the HICU. I believe, they were created, uh, out of the Embreeville case to help the providers provide better medical and psychiatric supports. Things would happen like, someone would go to a psychiatrist but they wouldn’t, their records wouldn’t be there for them or they were prescribed medication and nobody was coordinating the different medications they were on. There were just a myriad of problems around those, in those two areas, um, and they then, uh, formed the HICU. Things improved, the monitor did a second review and he found them in compliance the second time and then the case ended.
02:13:19:00 – 02:14:19:25
Lisa: Ilene, you were just talking about some of the, um, the smoothness of the transition, um, from Embreeville, um, had to do with some of the involvement with parents, um, who were involved in the monitoring and supporting the process which was not necessarily the case, I believe in Western Center.
Ilene: Western Center, uh, there was a, uh, uh, very high level of opposition by a small number of parents. Um, they sued to stop the closure. Uh, I believe the last lawsuit just settled relatively, just resolved relatively recently. Um, in fact I don’t even know the status of it but they sued, uh, the department. We were not in the second lawsuit. The first lawsuit sued, I believe 17 parties. We were in that lawsuit. Um, the, the closure was not done as well as it should have been by the department. Uh, for varieties of reasons. Um, in the end, they, the last group of people had to come out under police escort. Um, it should have and could have been done differently. Um
02:14:20:05 – 02:15:32:13
Lisa: What did they do that was wrong?

Ilene: Well, one of the things I think they did was they, they didn’t move out anybody where there was parental resistance, knowing that they were going to close the place and everybody was going to leave. You don’t leave, you don’t let the people where there’s resistance sort of concentrate ‘til the end. It would have been much better if they had sort of taken people out in a more diverse way so that some, um, why were able to do Embreeville in such a different way, uh, part of that is to the credit of Ed Tiryak, who was the attorney who represented the parents and said to the parents, what I’ve said to many parents over the years. You can put all your energy into fighting this and you won’t win or you can put all your energy into getting the best things you can get for your sons and daughters and you will win and I think he told, you will win, you will get for them what they need and I think he told them that and they made a decision, rather than fight it, to put their energy into getting the best results for their sons and daughters and that’s what happened in Embreeville that was very different than Western Center. So they fought it bitterly, the parents fought it and again it was a very small minority of parents fought it bitterly, uh, to the end. Way past the end, for years and years afterwards it was still in litigation.
02:15:33:10 – 02:17:17:13
Lisa: Could you understand, Ilene, at all, where parents were coming from? They were fearful..

Ilene: Absolutely, I’ve always understood. If I had, had a child in the 50’s and, uh, I was told that they couldn’t go to school and there was absolutely no services or supports for them and the only way I was going to get anything for them was to place them in an institution and that was the advice that my doctor gave me and that was the advice that everyone around me gave me. Who knows what decision I would have made or any of us would have made and it’s hard to criticize anybody for making the decision that they truly believed was the best thing for their son or daughter at the time. Um, our technologies changed over, fortunately and we, uh, in the 70’s and the 80’s became more able to provide supports in the community and in fact discovered that there were better ways of serving people but when you make that kind of choice for your son or daughter early in their life, it’s not an easy thing to undo. Um, and there’s also a certain level of comfort if your son or daughter is in a bricks and mortar facility. You believe that facility is likely to always exist, uh, where is if they’re in the community, you don’t know whether the provider will exist. You don’t know, uh, what the monitoring will be so there’s a natural fear and I totally sympathize with those, with parents because I can’t guarantee them  their sons and daughters safety in the community any more than I can in the facilities. And it’s a very hard decision and you come to, you come to, you come to terms with facing a son or a daughter in an institution and I don’t think you really want to revisit that 20 years later and that’s really what these parents were asked to do. Most of them and really the overwhelming majority either had no problem with it or were positive about it but there was a very vocal minority who were very, very opposed, strongly opposed. 
02:17:18:11 – 02:18:35:14
Lisa:] Why did the state resist reforms that really are a moral  imperative?
Ilene: Well, there’s only so much you can do, your, you, you have the constraints of a large facility with unionized staff. I mean, there’s only so much you can do to make an institution be different than it is. Um, I think you have to be fair and say that the institutions today are a whole lot better, whole lot better than they were back in the Pennhurst days. You don’t see that kind, that level of, of, horrific, uh, treatment. That doesn’t mean it’s a good thing and it doesn’t mean that’s where you would want to live or I would want to live or we would want to see people live but it’s certainly not the way it was back then.
Chapter Four: Significant Legal Cases
02:18:41:15 – 02:21:04:21
Lisa: Thank you. I wanted to ask you about one of your most significant cases. Um, I think, prepared collaboration with The Public Interest Law Center, um, Carolyn Clark.

Ilene: Actually, that case was with Steve Gold not with The Public Interest Law Center.

Lisa: Oh, my apologies.
Ilene: It’s ok 

Lisa: Thank you for correcting me.

Ilene: Carolyn was placed in Laurelton which was then called, um, I think a facility, something, Laurelton facility for the feeble minded or had some odd name back then and she lived there from 13 to 18 and at 18 she said, well, I would like to leave now. I’m an adult now. I want to leave. I’d like a hearing. I’d like to go and they ignored that and then she turned 21 and had a similar experience and when we met her, she had been there 37 years and during that entire period had been asking to leave. Um, there was really never a reason for Carolyn to be institutionalized and so when we brought that case, you know sometimes they say the facts are very strong, well the facts were very strong in that case and the court found that her due process rights had been violated, uh, by being institutionalized for 37 years both without a hearing and that her substantive rights had been violated. What happened was, that case got a lot of publicity, in fact it was on Nightline and the department responded once they settled the case which took quite a while. Um, first they fought it by saying, alright maybe we should relook at whether this is a good idea or not. Maybe we should relook at whether we have a lot of people in the institutions who really shouldn’t be there and they began, uh, really looking to move people out and I think we saw a shift in their attitude somewhat, not profoundly but somewhat of a shift in their attitude after the Carolyn Clark case. They, by the way, paid her a very significant money judgment as well and, and there was also significant money judgments paid for people who live at, uh, Philadelphia State Hospital. Sometimes I think closures happen after money judgments. I’ve often thought that after they get sued a few times and they lose some money then they think about maybe they don’t  want to really be in this business and then you see a closure.
02:21:06:16 – 02:22:22:07
Lisa: Ilene, I’m curious as to what Carolyn’s life was like when she moved out at 50.

02:22:23:15 – 02:24:30:19
Lisa: Can you tell us about Daniel B?

Ilene: Woodhaven really couldn’t have been considered a private institution back then. It was sort of this, um, mix of private, public. It was operated by Temple University. When the state institutions would have meetings of their superintendents, the superintendent of Woodhaven would be there so while it was technically private it was treated as public but all that is not relevant to what happened. A lawsuit was brought by two attorneys, um, about five years previous to me becoming involved and they entered into a settlement and the agreement was that a large number of people would be given the option to leave and, uh, there were some constraints in the settlement about what would happen if there wasn’t money available, what have you. Um, just short of five years. The settlement was up in five years and just short of that I get this phone call. Literally the phone rings, I pick it up and it’s a woman. She lives there and she’s very upset and I said, what’s the matter and she said, well I was supposed to get out and I didn’t get out so I start looking into it and find this settlement and, uh, I call Steve Gold to, I did a lot of cases with back then and we reopened the case and we said, well wait a minute, these people were supposed to get out and they never did. And what happened was, um, the department entered into a settlement but then as funds became available over the years other things became priorities but the mistake they made was, was they never went back to the court, never told the court. We decided to put the money elsewhere so when we went back before Judge Shapiro and she found out that not only had no one ever told her that the funds were used for other things but that no one had gotten out of there. Some people had gotten out in the beginning but then for a long stretch, there were 80 people who didn’t get out. Uh, she was irate to say the least so we ended up getting, uh, a settlement in which, uh, 80 people. Actually, I don’t remember frankly if it was a settlement or a court order. I apologize for that but 80 people were then discharged under the Danny B, uh, agreement including the woman who called me.
02:24:32:05 – 02:24:44:18 
Lisa: Do you know how that woman got your number?

Ilene: No, I don’t really remember. We used to do, you know, I used to go out to the institutions quite a bit, Um, to interview people, to see people and so I just don’t know how she got my number. I used to hand out cards all the time.

02:24:44:18 – 02:25:56:22
Lisa: What a call. Um, one of the cases that was very significant for you, um, eventually would have national impact, um, and I think you said, correct me if I’m wrong. Um, was really interesting because it yielded some conclusive legal theory was Helen L vs Didario
Ilene: I think Helen L vs Didario was probably the most significant, uh, legal case that I was involved in. Uh, I brought it along with Steve Gold and Robin Resnick. Uh, Robins still is an attorney with The, uh, Disability Rights Network and the three of us, uh, brought in action, uh, it was claiming that under The ADA, it was a violation of The ADA to unnecessarily institutionalize people. Interestingly, a similar case had been brought under The ADA, the statute that preceded The, uh, ADA which was section 504 of The Rehabilitation Act and that case had lost but we made this very technical distinction between The ADA and 504 and we lost and we filed an appeal to The Third Circuit and miraculously, they accepted our argument and…
02:25:56:22 – 02:27:19:00
Lisa: What was the distinction?

Ilene: When you look at the language of 504 and the language of The ADA, they were not identical and we made the argument that, that difference in language of the two statutes. The regulations in one case, uh, meant the court could interpret it differently and the court did interpret it differently and that was the first court in the country to hold that it was a violation of The ADA to, uh, unnecessarily institutionalize people. Then we’re sitting there, uh, we’re, nobody could have been more shocked than I think the three of us when that decision came down and we’re like really celebrating, it was at night, the decision, had just gotten the decision, we’re all excited and, um, a reporter calls and I’ll never forget this, Steve Gold picks up the phone and they say, oh, so is this a significant case and he says, not at all. Just about one person. Of course we didn’t want the case to be appealed to The Supreme Court. Uh, we felt if it were appealed, if the first case were appealed that would not bode well and in fact we did that case plus another case before the third case, Olmstead was appealed to The Supreme Court. Uh, the idea being we had established some body of loss and that when Olmstead went up there were already two decisions supporting The ADA Integration Mandate so, um, that was Helen L. 
02:27:48:10 – 02:29:48:26
The fundamental question has always been, is it legal or prohibited or permissible, I should say for the state to put people with disabilities in segregated institutions just because they have disabilities? To basically incarcerate people if you want to think of it that way. That may be harsh but that’s sort of how we thought of it. Um, and that was an issue, uh, both in mental health law and some of the early cases dealt with that and then ultimately became a central issue for people with developmental disabilities and it was a very hard legal theory to hobble together. We kept trying different approaches as I said, prior to Helen L, uh, the Carol Clark case was an example where, uh, the court did hold. That her  incarceration was illegal but the facts were so specific. A woman who had been held for 37 years who consistently asked for a hearing and never got one. It was not something that you could generalize to everybody. Um, the difference was Helen L, uh, it didn’t turn on asking to leave, it didn’t turn on violating someone’s due process and not giving them a hearing. It basically held that if by virtue of a disability, you are segregating somebody. That’s a violation of the ADA or to put it in another way. You can’t condition the receipt of services on requiring someone to subject themselves, um, to being institutionalized. So that case became really, uh, in two ways the backbone both of the legal development from thereafter around institutional litigation but also really affected the way the administration, both state and federal do business because they became, uh, committed to implementing Olmstead. So you would have Olmstead plans. One of the things The Supreme Court said was that if you had a plan that could be used as a defense to Olmstead litigation so every state had a plan and had to be a plan that was actually happening. You had to actually be doing something, you couldn’t just put it on paper. Interestingly, Pennsylvania today still does not have a plan.
02:29:49:10 – 02:30:55:19
Lisa: Why doesn’t Pennsylvania have a plan?

Ilene: That’s an interesting question. We brought a case very recently.  It’s the Benjamin case and which was recently settled and as a result people will be getting out of the state, state centers. Right near the end of the Benjamin case, they hobbled together something which they called a plan and submitting it to the court. It had never gone public. No one had seen it. No one had reviewed it. No one knew about it but it was submitted to the court so I guess technically there is a plan and it wasn’t being implemented so the court never bought that.  But If you think of Pennsylvania today, there is no plan in place where, other than because of the Benjamin litigation there now is a process in place because they’re going to have to give people the opportunity to leave because of Benjamin but prior to the Benjamin litigation there was no plan in place where the state basically said, look, we are going to have to reduce the population or our institutions over a period of time and here’s how we’re going to do it. That was just something the state never did.
02:30:56:03 – 02:31:37:21
Lisa: So in the absence of the plan, are people more vulnerable?

Ilene: Because of the plan?

Lisa: In the absence of a plan.

Ilene: Sure. Well, they’re not, they’re not leaving. I’ll say that. They’re going to stay where they are absent of a plan. And, and, and you should contrast this with the mental health system where there has been a very active, affirmative, uh, effort, to, to reduce the size of the institutional population and to move people into the community. Uh, just got this one cracked. It’s not to say no one ever left and that no institution ever closed without litigation but there wasn’t the commitment that you, to constantly move forward in terms of phasing out, uh, an outdated mode of service provision which are the institutions.
02:31:38:25 – 02:32:59:06
Lisa: One of the things that, um, really fascinates me but, about DLP and its relationship withThe P&A. I may have that again a little bit, uh, back to front but in addition to using litigation to achieve change, you really did a lot of advocacy, um, with and on behalf of people with disabilities and families and I wondered, um, if it was that direct involvement with families that maybe directed some of the litigations that you pursued.

Ilene: Oh, absolutely, I, I always felt you don’t bring a lawsuit unless you have the support of the community and so, uh, not only is advocacy an important tool of reaching, to reach the goals, uh, it’s also, I think necessary  before you do litigation. Litigation should be viewed as sort of one spoke on the wheel. Uh, there’s many other spokes on terms of how you do system change and if you rely totally on litigation and you don’t have the community support. You will, will not succeed, in my opinion.  Um, there needs to be organizing, there needs to be media, there needs to be, um, parents who speak to public officials, there needs to be many, many pieces of advocacy and I think in many ways those pieces are more important than litigation. What litigation does though is sometimes bring those folks to the table or, or sort of forces the system to acknowledge or address an issue.
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02:32:59:14 – 02:33:11:29 
Lisa: It seems like you take as much satisfaction in your work, working directly with families as you do with your, your successes in the legal system.

Ilene: I actually think I, I, that’s something I feel more, that’s more important to me, working with families and consumers.
02:33:14:10 – 02:34:19:19
Lisa: So all of these systemic changes, fighting the systems and, and working towards these systemic changes, it must be exhausting and sometimes seem like an uphill battle so how do you retain your passion for the work?
Ilene: Well, right now, I think it’s harder than ever because I think what we are seeing and I don’t know how much you want me to go into this. Is what we’re seeing is an unwinding of all of what we’ve accomplished, um, you, your, were beginning to see I think, um, putting people into institutions is not such a bad thing is what we’re beginning to see from this administration. We’re, there’s definitely an attack on the community programs. The quality is, is, uh, going down, uh, they’re now going to increase the size of community programs. I mean, by every criteria, by every measure we’re going backwards more rapidly than we went forward and as it took us 40 or 50 years to get where we are and yet it’s scary to see how quickly we’re, we’re going back. Um, there is not the commitment, um, of the current administration to protecting the rights and needs of people with disabilities that we’ve seen in every administration prior to this.
02:34:20:29 – 02:35:24:16
Lisa: Is there a reason?

Ilene: Well, the reason they would give, I think is, is because of financial, uh, financial, the difficulty in the economy but that alone doesn’t explain it.

Lisa: Well, there’s also been, uh, I think, uh, a lack of opportunity for input to some of the changes that have been made by the current administration.

Ilene: There’s no, no input. They, things are done in a vacuum and, and not only does that frustrate the community, the advocacy community but if you’re a bureaucrat sometimes you should hear what the other side thinks or the other people think. Just because you want to make sure what you’re doing is right. You may make mistakes. You may reject what they say but you want to hear what they say because it just gives you a, a check against what your decisions are and they have made some really wrong decisions that they have had to backtrack because they haven’t heard. It’s not like they, it’s one thing to listen, to hear and then not chose to do what somebody suggest but there’s no process for input at all so decisions are just made in a vacuum and sometimes they’re very wrong decisions and they have to be undone.
02:35:24:25 – 02:36:54:11
Lisa: Are families feeling disempowered?

Ilene: Very disempowered, I think families are feeling very disillusioned, very angry.

Lisa: And so what is the path forward, I mean how are families and advocates, um, intending to proceed?

Ilene: I don’t know. I think we’re going to see more litigation in the future than we have in the past. I think we’ll be, uh, that’s just my prediction. I, I don’t’ know that. It’s not my job anymore, obviously, I’m no longer the head of DRN. I resigned, um, last Oct, last, uh, August as part of my plans towards retirement but I predict that we’ll see more litigation. When you don’t have a mechanism for people to talk to one another then you have to find some other mechanism to be heard. Um, I think that, uh, there is a lot of anger out there. Um, I think, and a lot of really bad decisions are being made and, and, and it’s not all about money. A lot of it’s not about money at all. A lot of it are just bad decisions because people don’t understand. Somehow and I think this is true of many administrations, people come in to work for government and they don’t realize there’s a history. That, they’re not aware of what happened before them. They think it all started the day they got there and whatever decisions were made before them don’t make sense because they don’t’ bother to find out why the decisions were made, in the way they were made. Um, and so a lot of bad decisions are being made not just because of money but just because of a lack of knowledge. Um, and it’s very unfortunate and, uh, you know, people are suffering as a result. 
02:36:54:15 – 02:38:33:25
Lisa: We certainly hope that any of these interviews, um, I don’t know if you could call it a second wave of advocacy but we certainly hope that it will, if nothing else, get people thinking and perhaps help get them motivated although the lack of services and supports would probably be motivation enough without.

Ilene: I was at, I was at a training for a day, um, for lawyers. We have to take 12 hours of CLE’s a year and, uh, they’re talking about some issue involving children and I make the statement that, um, after a child ends school, when child turns, for example 21, they lose their rights to everything. They don’t have a right to medical assistance. They don’t have a right to special education. They’re basically without anything and they were absolutely a gassed. These are the attorneys who represent families of children with disabilities and they were unaware of that and I think many parents are unaware of that. That the cliff that they’re going to fall off of when their children turn 21. They become aware of it as they get closer to it but, um, and it used to be, up until currently that we had services. Not, maybe not enough, maybe not all we needed but we had something to offer people. Now we have nothing. Kids are graduating school with nothing other than like the TV and what are parents do if they actually have to work for a living and now suddenly they have a son or a daughter at home who needs supervision or care or yeah. One hopes some active treatment but even just to be safe.
02:38:33:29 – 02:39:46:25
Lisa: And I wonder, I mean families are so, um, overburdened often to parents working and then addressing the needs of their child with a disability. It’s probably, um, hard to see down the road when your just trying to keep a lid on the day to day. Do you think that’s true or…
Ilene: Well, I, I just, I just don’t know how we can ignore needs of these families and ultimately it’s going to cost the state a lot more money because if you have a single parent who has a son or a daughter with a disability, that person can’t quit their job and just stay home. They don’t have that option. They may have other kids. They may have a mortgage. They must have food they, they would like to eat the next day. Um, so they don’t always have that option and so in the end it’s, it’s not, it’s not going to save society money by not supporting fam… if you support a family and help them keep their son or daughter at home, the tax payers benefit as well as the family, uh, because that’s a lot less expensive to help support someone. A person with a disability, I’m talking now with a developmental disability, uh, intellectual disability stay at home than to go, to not and yet if we don’t support families which is the direction we’re going. They can’t stay at home.
02:39:47:22 – 02:40:35:18
Lisa: You mentioned changes to, um, to group homes…
Ilene: Well the current, for reasons that are a little bit technical but, but it’s being done in a way that is unnecessarily broad. Uh, they’re increasing the maximum size of group homes to eight and that’s after 40 years of four, uh, now we have had exceptions to that and the exceptions are part of what’s driving this change but the change could be done in a more modest way and they’re choosing not to do it. They’re using a steamroller where they could use a, something more delicate to make this change.
Lisa: Eight people sounds less like a home and more like a small center.
Ilene: Well, yeah, eight people. It’s, it’s hard to imagine that to be a home cause remember you have staff on top of that. So it’s a lot of chaos.

02:40:36:15 – 02:41:44:24
Lisa: We had talked a little bit about the fact that The DLP and P&A worked in tangent for many years but, um, you did merge, I believe, um, in 2002 and I wondered if you could just tell us a little bit about that process and the new name and what the organizations mission and values are, if they changed at all.
Ilene: We merged in part, um, under, I will call, uh, pressure from the federal government. Heavy handed pride, um, but having made that decision, uh, we decided that we not only merge but we’d have a new name so that it would signify that it was really not one organization sort of eating up the other but rather the two coming together and, and it’s actually been a very positive thing because the legal work and the advocacy work are now one. Uh, prior to that you had the legal work over at DLP and the advocacy work at The P&A and now it’s all been brought together and there’s much more integration between the lawyers and the advocates and that took several years to achieve but I think we’re doing really well and moving along that path.
02:41:45:20 – 02:42:58:02
Lisa: Thank you. Um, I wanted to ask you a little bit, we were just talking about sort of a lack of input in the current administration for some of the, the changes that are coming down the pike. Um, but that’s not always been the case, I know that you served, um, on the, let’s see if I get the title right, please. The Governors Cabinet on Children and Families. There was a commission comprised of experts to..

Ilene: Well, let me, let me rephrase your question if you don’t mind.

Lisa: Please do because it was a badly worded question.

Ilene: I think the significant input for people with intellectual disabilities has been The PAC, The Planning Advisory Council and that has existed through many administrations of both parties and that appears to be terminating. I don’t know, no announcements has been made but it hasn’t met since August and this is December and, uh, it just looks like it’s being allowed to fade out of existence and that was one of the few bodies that had people with disabilities, people with intellectual disabilities and families as a majority stake holders and really an opportunity to communicate with the Department. It was a really good body of parents, participants or consumers, um, of family members of people in institutions, providers, um, really counties. A really good mix and it’s unfortunate. It just, apparently there is no longer an interest in hearing from families and, uh, participants.
02:44:13:26 – 02:44:41:12
02:44:41:20 – 02:47:19:05
Lisa: Ilene, we were talking about, um, sort of the current state, um, of our system and the undoing of so much progress that we’ve made

Ilene: Well, my career spans quite a few decades and a lot of administrations, republican and democrat because disability is not really a partisan issue and in all those years, why I have not, why I have often disagreed with decisions the department has made, um, I have never felt the department had a total disregard for people with disabilities, um, I, I was always at least of the impression they were interested in at least hearing what they had to say. Hearing what families had to say. They might not always agree with them but at least they would hear from them and in the end, I had a sense that they would not just abandon them but they, again wouldn’t always agree with decisions but it was a sense of, um, some commitment to people with disabilities. This administration, I don’t see that. They are not interested in hearing from families. They are not interested in hearing from people with disabilities. They’re not interested in hearing from advocates. They’re making the decisions almost with total disregard of the needs of people with disabilities. They’re really almost treating them like commodities. If they have a two person group home here and a two person group home here, we’ll just slap them together and have a four person home because it’s cheaper. Um, they, people are being terminated from service, um, and, and in the most abrupt ways imaginable. Things are frankly happening now that I would never have conceived of happening five years ago, ten years ago. Um, the idea that someone would get a letter in the mail informing them that they’re going to be out of service, that their services are being terminated. These are people with profound disabilities. What happens to them? One family, uh, in particular, was just notified that their, uh, their, uh, daughter would be arriving home in a taxi cab next week. I have another family, the, the examples are just endless and it just, really horrific things happening and the lack of commitment just doesn’t seem to be there. Whatever it was that drove administrations to have some sensitivity to people with disabilities, to give, have some concern about what happened to them. You just don’t see that now. Now it’s, it’s, you know, I almost feel like, I don’t know this, no one has said this to me but I almost feel like their, their attitude is these people are just costing us too much money. Is there something we can do to get rid of them or something? I don’t mean that in a sense of get rid of them technically but they just don’t want to provide the services that people need, to support them.
Families and consumers are absolutely, uh, terrified of where their future is, um, I have a friend who’s a parent who, um, runs what’s called, run’s a service for her son who lives in her home. She was just notified that the rate that she’s paid which she uses to pay staff was going to be cut by 50%. Well, she can’t survive at 50% of what she has so parents and consumers are very, very scared. Um, they’re being subjected to things that they never thought they would be subjected to. Uh, people are coming into the system with, the kids are graduating school with no hope that they’re going to get services cause we have no waiting list initiative. Um, people get letters in the mail terminating them from service and then the providers, there’s a complete sense of anger and distrust of the providers of, of the department. Um, they are not willing in many cases to even develop programs because they don’t believe they’re going to get paid. They believe if they get paid this year they’re not going to get paid next year. Um, in whether they’re right or wrong in those feelings, that’s what’s out there and there, uh, there’s just a complete breakdown of the system. I really think it’s sort of spiraling downward and downward. I don’t know what’s going to happen next.
02:48:40:00 – 02:49:25:19
Lisa: What does it mean to not have a waiting list?

Ilene: Not, not, not funded a waiting list?

Lisa: Not  a funded a waiting list.
Ilene: It means as kids graduate school they will go home to nothing. If they have a single parent, what does that parent do? They can’t quit their job. They may have other kids, they have a life, they have themselves to support. Number two, you have people in their 70’s, 80’s, 90’s with sons and daughters at home who will not be able to get services. What do they do? Today, a family, uh, yeah, I just mentioned this one cause this came in yesterday. Uh, the one family member is in her 70’s, has, is being treated for cancer, uh, the person with the disabilities in his, in his 60’s. She can’t give anything. What does she do? Where does she go?
02:49:26:20 – 02:49:56:03
Lisa: And if she dies, what happens to her child?

Ilene: Well, that’s really an interesting question. Isn’t it? I don’t know. I suppose one option will be to return people to institutions but that comes at a cost too. The average institutional cost is much higher than the average community cost. It’s something like, approximately $260,000 a year per person. So, it’s not like that’s a freebie to taxpayers. So you not only disrupt people’s lives, put them places where they don’t want to be and shouldn’t be but it’s at a great cost, financially.
02:49:57:15 – 02:50:34:28
Lisa: So what has the response, obviously the initial reaction is fear, um, but what is the response been of advocates and families or what should the response be?

Ilene: Well, the families have been doing, rallying.  They have been meeting with their legislators. They have been meeting with public officials. Um, but these are things they’ve always done and in the past they’ve gotten some pos…, some response. You never get all you want but you get something. Now they’re getting no response, nothing. Um, there was a zero waiting list initiative last year and as far as I can see this year, I don’t expect there to be a waiting list initiative again. Um

02:50:35:12 – 02:51:27:02
Lisa: So Ilene, I wonder if, um, a sort of a missing piece of this puzzle moving forward in terms of being heard and advocacy is buy in from the community at large and by that I mean people who don’t have family members and children with disabilities and if so, how do we deepen those connection?
Ilene: That, that’s an interesting question because I don’t think the, the average person elected this governor to hurt people with disabilities and I really don’t think, um, that the average person would want to see that happen and yet that is what’s happening. So what my hope is that we will be able to reach out. Not just to the disability community but to the public and say, is this really what you, is this really what, as a society, what we’re about, Um, that we’re not going to protect the most vulnerable people. Um, it’s certainly not consistent with what the governor told the public and yet it’s what we’re seeing happening.
02:51:27:25 – 02:51:38:17 
Lisa: Do you have any thoughts as to how to, um, make these issues resonate with people?

Ilene: Well, I, I, I, I don’t know yet how that’s all going to play out, it’s certainly one of the things we need to do.

02:51:39:40:20 – 02:53:18:16
Lisa: Thank you. Um, you had such a significant role, Ilene, in your career with so many landmark cases.

Ilene: Thank you.

Lisa: Um, and your advocacy work has been so appreciated by People with  Disabilities and families. I know you received the Brighter Futures Award. Um, your peers have recognized you. The Philadelphia Bar Association, I believe, gave you the Andrew Hamilton Award for your public interest work. Um, when you reflect on your career, what gives you the most pride or the most sense of accomplishment?
Ilene: Um, that’s a hard question to answer. I mean, certainly individual victories have given me a sense of accomplishment. Uh, I think the people that I have worked with and I feel I’ve had a role in motivating them to do better and to, to reach further gives me a sense of accomplishment. Um, and I think I’ve seen the system as a whole move towards a more positive, uh, place. Society moved towards a more positive place for people with disabilities. Uh, and I’ve, I see a tiny role for me in that. Um, I’ve loved and enjoyed working with people with disabilities, with families. That’s been a terrifically positive part of what I’ve done and, uh, I’ve enjoyed that. Um, so I, it’s hard to point to a single thing. Um, it’s been very exciting to watch reform happen and to be part of that. And, uh, you know, I wish we could keep going. I mean I wish we weren’t sort of going backwards now but, uh, it seems to be the case.
02:53:18:25 – 02:53:49:23
Lisa: Do you have any regrets when you look back?

Ilene: Yeah, I wish I had quit working about two years earlier so I hadn’t have to witness what I am witnessing now. I really do. It’s a terrible thing to say but I, in some ways and as soon as think of the people that can’t walk away because they have a child with a disability or they themselves have a disability. They can’t walk away. They are, whatever happens it’s their life and I feel very sort of guilty I suppose that I can walk away when I see things going as badly as I see them going. Um, I haven’t walked away yet so, uh.
02:53:49:25 – 02:54:10:04
Lisa: I was going to say, you, you’ve announced your retirement but you’re still consulting. Will you ever really retire?

Ilene: I will, um, and part of that is for my own personal reasons. I, you know, I have health issues and my own disabilities that I have to contend with so I can’t work as much as I used too, be able too. And, uh, so that is something. I will work less. I am working less.

02:54:11:00 – 02:54:52:00
Lisa: Do you have any final thoughts or words of wisdom to share for the advocates who will now come after you, particularly, um, given the kind of dire circumstances they’re going to find themselves fighting?

Ilene: Well, I, I, it’s, one of the things that concerns me is that I look to the leadership and so many of them are my age or even older and I don’t mean just the lawyers but also the parents who are really, uh, the key advocates in some of the, um, participants as well. Uh, a, and I, I just think we need to better train the people who come after us to make sure we’re constantly renewing a crop of people who have the passion to fight the fight and the fight goes on, um, because as soon as we stop everything retreats.

02:54:53:00 – 02:55:18:19
Lisa: Do you see any emerging leaders?

Ilene: Sure, sure, sure but, uh, it’s hard. It’s, you know, back when I started in this field parents had nothing. Consumers had nothing. And, and the passion was just unbridled because they had nothing. Now people have a lot more. At least for parts of their lives and that dissipates a lot of the passion until they suddenly find out. They turn 21 and they have nothing.
02:55:20:21 – 02:55:28:17
